FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 4/29/2019 3:49 PM

97132-3

NO. 50662-9-II IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

DENISE REAGAN

Appellant,

v.

ST. ELMO NEWTON III, M.D.,

Respondent,

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT

HONORABLE DEREK VANDERWOOD

PETITION FOR REVIEW

BRUCE COLVEN

Attorney for Appellant Denise Reagan Caron, Colven, Robison & Shafton 900 Washington Street, Suite 1000 Vancouver, WA 98660 (360) 699-3001

IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

This Petition for Review is filed on behalf of Denise Reagan, the Appellant.

COURT OF APPEALS DECISIONS

Ms. Reagan seeks review of the decision of the Court of Appeals in this matter filed on March 5, 2019. Ms. Reagan filed a motion to reconsider a portion of the Court's decision on March 22, 2019. This motion was denied by order dated March 29, 2019. The appendix contains copies of the decision of the Court of Appeals and the Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The following issues are presented for review:

- 1. Did a physician-patient relationship exist between Dr. Newton and Ms. Reagan?
- 2. Was Dr. Newton providing "health care", as that term has been defined by Washington's appellate courts, when Ms. Reagan was injured?
- 3. Should the Court determine if a physician-patient relationship is required to bring a claim under RCW 7.70?
- 4. Does *Dyer v. Trachtman* control in determining if a claim based on a forensic examiner's negligence is governed by RCW 7.70?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 13, 2013, Appellant Denise Reagan was injured in the course of her employment at Chuck's Produce in Vancouver,

Washington. CP 11. A claim for workers compensation benefits was filed with the Department of Labor and Industries (hereinafter "the Department"). The claim was accepted.

The Department directed Ms. Reagan to attend a medical examination pursuant to RCW 51.36.070. The examination was conducted on May 13, 2014 in Tacoma. CP 131. The examination was a "panel" exam conducted by Respondent St. Elmo Newton, M.D. (an orthopedist) and a neurologist named Dennis Chong. CP 97-98; CP 131. Pursuant to WAC 296-23-362, Ms. Reagan's sister-in-law Lisa Wilson was present during the examination. CP 111-114; CP 136. After the examination was conducted, a 10-page report was written and signed by both physicians. CP 140.

The report signed by Dr. Newton stated that Appellant was instructed

not to engage in any physical maneuvers beyond what she was able to tolerate or which she believed were beyond her limits or which could cause harm or injury. The examinee was instructed that the evaluation could be stopped at any time and not to allow the evaluation to continue if it caused pain.

CP 131.

Dr, Newton testified that both examiners, as well as an employee of the company that arranges the exam, tell examinees to inform the examiners if the exam gets painful. CP 89. Prior to the start of the examination, Ms. Reagan was given a two-page form to fill out. CP 96. She indicated she had had a surgery on her left hip. She informed Dr. Chong during the pre-examination interview that the surgery occurred in 2008. CP 98; see also, CP 133. Ms. Reagan also informed the examiners she was experiencing pain to the area of her left hip that day. CP 116.

Ms. Reagan took Dr. Newton's discovery deposition on July 21, 2016. CP 24. After he had examined Ms. Reagan's back, Dr. Newton asked Dr. Chong if there was anything else Dr. Newton needed to do. Dr. Chong responded that Dr. Newton needed to examine Ms. Reagan's lower extremities. Ms. Reagan was instructed to lie down on the examination table. CP 110.

Dr. Newton asked Ms. Reagan to lift her left leg as high as she could, and Ms. Reagan complied. She testified Respondent asked

"Is that as far as you can go?" I said, "Yes. I have a previous injury. It limits my movement in my hip. [Dr. Newton] said, "If you take your own hand and pull your knee up can you go any further?" And I said, "No."

CP 110.

Ms. Reagan testified that Dr. Newton then

Turned my leg out with his hand to the side, and he took it as far as it would – I could go, and I said, "That's as far as I can go. I have a previous injury. I can't go any farther than that." And then he pushed my leg all the way down, and I screamed. And he said, "That was the reaction I was looking for."

CP 110.

The examiners announced the exam was over and left the room. CP 110.

Within two weeks of the incident, Lisa Wilson wrote a statement of what she observed. CP 111. She wrote that after Ms. Reagan lay down on the exam table, Dr. Newton raised Ms. Reagan's knee toward her chest. CP 113. He then extended Ms. Reagan's knee

Out to the left while still bent upward, and again [Ms. Reagan] said "That's as far as it goes" and that he was hurting her.

CP 113-114 (emphasis added).

Ms. Wilson wrote that Dr. Newton then "yanked" Ms. Reagan's knee hard and that Appellant yelled in agony. CP 114.

On January 21, 2015, Ms. Reagan underwent a subsequent medical examination ordered by the Department. CP 121. The examination was conducted by Bruce Blackstone, MD. *Id.* Dr. Blackstone wrote a report of his findings, his examination, as well as his

review of Ms. Reagan's medical records. CP 121-127. On page 6 of his report, Dr. Blackstone wrote that he

agrees with [Ms. Reagan's] treating physicians, who have stated that her acute onset of left hip that occurred during the IME of May 13, 2014, was an aggravation of pre-existing arthritis...

CP 126.

Mark Colville, MD, was one of Ms. Reagan's treating physicians. In a chart note dated August 22, 2014, Dr. Colville wrote that the acute onset of pain to Appellant's left hip was due to Dr. Newton's manipulation, and the manipulation aggravated her preexisting osteoarthritic condition in the hip. CP 142.

In his discovery deposition, Dr. Newton testified to the following regarding his role as a physician performing independent medical examinations:

Q: When you do these exams, can you just take me through what it is you say to an examinee? Explain the procedure.

A: Okay. The examinee is placed into the examining room by someone who works for Examworks, explains to them what's going to happen, explains that these doctors are not your doctors. You don't have any relationship with them.

CP 88.

. . .

Q: And do you talk about – do you explain the examination process to the examinee?

A: Yes. I explain why I'm there, what is happening, we're not your doctors, we're here for usually it's claim closure, and we have to take measurements.

CP 91.

Q: And in terms of explaining how this examination differs from a personal doctor's visit as it says in the highlighted part, can you walk me through what you say then?

A: We are not your treating doctors.

Q: And from your perspective, what's the purpose of telling the examinee that?

A: I want them to know that, that we're there as people who take measurements, observe, report.

Q: Do you advise examinees that what's going to occur during the examination is not medical treatment?

[Respondent's counsel]: I'm going to object to the form of the question.

A: We don't offer treatment.

Q: (By Mr. Colven) Right. So my question is, do you tell the examinees that, that you're not there to offer treatment?

A: We tell them what we are there for.

Q: So you may not specifically mention that you are not there to offer treatment. Am I hearing that right?

A: It's implied certainly and inferred I think, because tell them why we're there. It does not include anything about treatment.

CP 92.

Dr. Chong testified concerning his role as a physician performing medical examinations:

A: So my typical practice is to let the examinee know that although I do see patients like him or her, this is a request for a one-time evaluation and because it is a one-time evaluation I am not permitted to be his or her treating physician and therefore this is a specific examination as requested by whoever referred him or her and the purpose is to respond to questions from the referral source.

Q: And again in your personal experience conducting these exams, do you consider that when you're conducting one of these exams that you are establishing a physician/patient relationship with the examinee?

A: Absolutely not. And I also then complete my preamble by informing them that I apologize that because I'm not permitted to be their treating physician, I'm not permitted to provide any diagnosis or treatment recommendations.

CP 105-106.

Dr. Newton also testified regarding statements made to Ms. Reagan concerning pain she might experience during the examination:

Q: When you do these exams, can you just take me through what it is you say to an examine? Explain the procedure.

A: Okay. The examinee is placed into the examining room by someone who works for Examworks, explains to them what's going to happen, explains that these doctors are not your doctors. You don't have any relationship with them. Tell them if it's hurting.

CP 88.

Q: So the first part where you're talking about explaining that you're not the examinee's doctor and there's no relationship and say if something is hurting, is that something – I want to make sure I understand – that you typically tell the examinee or somebody else does?

A: Well, both of us do. The first person tells them, if this gets painful tell them. And then we tell them also.

CP 89.

. . .

Q: And to the best of your ability can you just pretend I'm an examinee and just tell me what you would say to me with respect to explaining the process.

A: You're here for me to examine you about an injury you had, and give a date. And I'm going to do a lot of measurements, make a report. It takes two weeks for the report to get in. I go over again don't do anything that hurts. That's typically what happens.

CP 91-92.

When asked if the admonitions to examinees were given to Ms.

Reagan, Dr. Newton referenced the first page of his report, which read in relevant part as follows:

The Claimant was asked at the time of the examination not to engage in any physical maneuvers beyond what she was able to tolerate or which she believed were beyond her limits or which could cause injury. The examinee was instructed that the evaluation could be stopped at any time and not to allow the evaluation to continue if it caused pain.

CP 90; see also CP 131.

ARGUMENT

I. Introduction.

The Court of Appeals held that Dr. Newton's examination was "health care" under RCW 7.70.010, et. seq., the medical malpractice statute. The Court of Appeals also held that Ms. Reagan was Dr. Newton's patient. Both decisions are contrary to the testimony of Dr. Newton and Dr. Chong, the only medical witnesses whose testimony is in the record. The decision that Ms. Reagan was Dr. Newton's patient is contrary to the arguments advanced by both parties. The decision that Dr. Newton was rendering "health care" is contrary to the long-used definition and interpretation of that term, as used by the appellate courts of Washington in analyzing the medical malpractice statute. The decision erroneously

decides an unresolved question posed by this court, namely whether a "physician-patient relationship is required to give rise to a claim for medical malpractice." *Paetsch v. Spokane Dermatology Clinic, PS,* 182 Wn.2d 842, 850, 348 P.3d 389 (2015). Both decisions conflict with decisions of the Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals. The issue of whether a physician-patient relationship is required to give rise to claims for medical malpractice involves a matter of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. The Supreme Court should therefore grant review. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) and (4).

II. <u>No Physician-Patient Relationship Existed Between Ms.</u>

Reagan and Dr. Newton.

The parties agreed that no physician-patient relationship existed between Ms. Reagan and Dr. Newton. The evidence supported that conclusion. Ms. Reagan was sent to the examination pursuant to a statute that allows the Department of Labor and Industries to send a worker to a medical provider of its choice. When the Department so directs the worker, the worker "shall" attend. RCW 51.32.110(1). Unlike what transpires when "health care" is rendered, no "health care provider" refers a worker to an RCW 51.32.110(1) examination. In a state-funded Washington workers compensation claim, the referral is made by a claims' manager – a non-health care provider -- who works for the Department.

The claims manager, and not a health care provider, decides who the examiner will be. RCW 51.32.055(4). No doctor-patient privilege exists. RCW 51.04.050. The relationship between examiner and examinee is often adversarial. See, e.g., *Dyer v. Trachtman*, 470 Mich. 45, 51, 679 NW2d 311 (2004).

The medical evidence before the Court of Appeals regarding whether a doctor-patient relationship exists when conducting a medical examination from Dr. Newton and Dr. Chong. Dr. Newton and Dr. Chong are practicing physicians; Dr. Newton has practiced medicine for "47, 48 years." CP 203.

- A. "We are not your doctors". Dr. Newton, CP 91
- B. "We are not your treating doctors." Dr. Newton, CP 92
- C. "We don't offer treatment". Dr. Newton, CP 92
- D. "It [the fact treatment is not being rendered] is implied certainly and inferred . . . It [the examination] does not include anything about treatment." Dr. Newton, CP 92
- E. "I am not permitted to be his or her treating physician." Dr. Chong, CP 105
- F. I am "absolutely not" . . . establishing a physician/patient relationship with the examinee. Dr. Chong, CP 106
- G. "I'm not permitted to provide any diagnosis or treatment recommendations." Dr. Chong, CP 106
- H. "You don't have any relationship with" the examiners. Dr. Chong, CP 88

The record clearly established that Dr. Newton was not Ms. Reagan's doctor, and that she was not his patient. Accordingly, no doctor-patient relationship existed between the two.

III. Dr. Newton Was Not Providing Health Care When Ms Reagan

Was Injured.

Enacted in 1976, Washington's medical malpractice statute "preempted" all tort and contract claims related to health care. RCW 7.70.010. The legislative intent described in RCW 7.70.010 was to modify "certain substantive and procedural aspects of all civil actions and causes of actions ... for damages for injury occurring as a result of health care ..." (emphasis added). "Statutes such as the medical malpractice act that are in derogation of the common law must be construed narrowly." *Sherman v. Kissinger*, 146 Wn.App. 855, 865-66, 195 P.3d 539 (2008). The words of a statute must be construed in accordance with their ordinary and common meaning unless they have acquired technical meaning or unless a definite meaning in apparent or indicated by the context of the words. *State v. Rice*, 116 Wn.App. 96, 100, 64 P.3d 651 (2003).

The statute does not define "health care". *Berger v. Sonneland*, 144 Wn.2d 91, 109, 26 P.3d 257 (2001). When no statutory definition is provided, words in a statute should be given their common meaning, which may be determined by referring to a dictionary. *Smith, Inc. v. City of Walla Walla*, 148 Wn.2d. 835, 842-43, 64 P.3d 15 (2003). (citations omitted). The long-adopted definition of "health care" has remained unchanged since *Estate of Sly v. Linville*, 75 Wn.App. 431, 878 P.2d 1241 (1994):

The Court of Appeals has defined the term to mean "'the process in which [the physician] was utilizing the skills which he had been taught in examining, diagnosing, treating or caring for the plaintiff as his patient.'" Estate of Sly v. Linville, 75 Wn.App. 431, 439, 878 P.2d 1241 (1994) (quoting Tighe v. Ginsberg, 146 A.D. 268, 271, 540 N.Y.S. 99 (1989)). This is consistent with a common dictionary definition. Berger v. Sonneland, 144 Wn.2d 91, 109, 26 P.3d 257 (2001) (quoting The American Heritage Dictionary 833 (3d ed. 1992)).

Beggs v. Dept. of Social & Health Services, 171 Wn.2d. 69, 79, 247 P.3d 421 (2011) (emphasis added).

RCW 7.70.020(1) lists the types of health care providers covered by the medical malpractice statute. This "broad definition" of providers is evidence of the "legislature's intent to impose liability beyond the context of a physician-patient relationship." *Daly v. United States*, 946 F.2d. 1467, 1469-70 (1991). Each of those providers must be a person "licensed by this state to *provide health care or related services*..." RCW 7.70.020(1) (emphasis added). The dictionary definition of "provide" in this context is "supply something for sustenance or support." Webster's Third New International Dictionary 1827 (2002). The dictionary definition of service or services in this context is "an act done for the benefit ... of another." Webster's Third New International Dictionary 2075 (2002). These are common-sense definitions in the context of medical care. They are consistent with a health care provider-health care recipient relationship.

For a claim brought under RCW 7.70 et. seq., a "traditional" health care provider—health care recipient relationship is not required so long as the health care provider is rendering treatment/health care in the delivery of health care services when the negligence occurs. This is the key distinction missed by the Court of Appeals. See page 12 of Court of Appeals' decision. Ms. Reagan was not a "patient" of Dr. Newton's because (a) there was no doctor-patient relationship, and (b) he – by his and Dr. Chong's testimony – was not providing "health care" as that term has been defined by our appellate courts and the dictionary definition relied upon by this Court. In contrast, while health care providers such as opticians, pharmacists, and paramedics (a) do not have patients, they are (b) providing "health care" to the individuals to whom they serve, within each of those individuals' network of care.

The Court of Appeals has recognized that regardless of a health care provider's area of practice, health care is something that is provided for the benefit of the patient. "When the conduct complained of is part of the health care provider's efforts to treat and care for a patient's needs, the injury occurs as a result of health care and the claim falls under chapter 7.70 RCW." Reed v. AMN Health Care, 148 Wn.App. 264, 269, 225 P.3d

¹ "[t]he prevention, treatment, management of illness and the preservation of mental and physical well-being through the services offered by the medical and allied health professions." *Berger v. Sonneland*, 144 Wn.2d 91, 109, 26 P.3d 257 (2001).

1012 (2008). (emphasis added). A health care provider's area of practice does not change what constitutes "health care". Health care is provided for the benefit of the health care recipient, to address the needs of that recipient. The evidence in the record contains nothing to suggest Dr. Newton provided health care to Ms. Reagan.

For 25 years, Washington appellate courts have adhered to the same definition of "health care" in interpreting the medical malpractice statute. That definition has consistently been one requiring that the care be directed toward and be for the benefit of the patient. That health care is directed to and for the benefit for a patient is consistent with the "common meaning" of the term. *Smith, Inc. v. City of Walla Walla, supra* 148 Wn.2d. at 842-43, 64 P.3d 15 (2003). The definition is also consistent with the dictionary definition of care: "responsibility for or attention to safety and well-being (under a doctor's ~)" Webster's Third New International Dictionary 338 (3rd ed. 1966).

In pointing out that some health care providers under RCW 7.70.020(1) do not establish physician-patient relationships (i.e., opticians, pharmacists, and paramedics), the Court of Appeals noted that those providers nonetheless "serve" the people to whom they provide health care. *Eelbode v. Chec.Med.Ctrs., Inc.*, 97 Wn.App. 462, 467, 984 P.2d 436 (1999). Service is the essence of what any health care provider gives when

he or she provides health care. Dr. Newton was not serving Ms. Reagan during the examination. He was serving the Department of Labor and Industries.

The service provided by a worker's compensation examiner is explicitly and exclusively for the benefit of the entity that hired the examiner. There is nothing therapeutic about the actions of the examiner. The fact the examiner might very well testify against the interests of the examinee in a future hearing or trial underscores the examination is forensic in nature, not for the purposes of health care. The Court of Appeals' decision that an independent medical examination is "health care" conflicts with every Supreme Court and Court of Appeals' decision that has analyzed the issue. See, e.g., *Berger v. Sonneland*, 144 Wn.2d 91, 26 P.3d 257 (2001); *Reed v. AMN Health Care*, 148 Wn.App. 264, 269, 225 P.3d 1012 (2008), and *Branom v. State*, 94 Wn.App. 964, 974 P.2d 335 (1999)

IV. This Court Should Consider Determining If a Physician-Patient

Relationship is Required to Bring a Claim under RCW 7.70

In Paetsch v. Spokane Dermatology Clinic, PS, 182 Wn.2d 842, 850, 348 P.3d 389 (2015), this Court pointed out that it has not yet decided the issue of whether a doctor-patient relationship is required to bring a cause of action for medical malpractice. In so doing, it expressed no

opinion as to the Court of Appeals decision in *Eelbode v. Chec.Med.Ctrs.*, *Inc.*, 97 Wn.App. 462, 984 P.2d 436 (1999). *Paetsch*. 182 Wn.2d at 850, footnote 6.

In *Eelbode*, a physical therapist performed a pre-employment physical for an individual seeking work with Travelers Inn. The plaintiff alleged the physical therapist improperly administered a lifting test, causing the plaintiff injuries. The Court of Appeals held the plaintiff established a cause of action under RCW 7.70.030(1). The Court relied upon a Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals holding that an allegation of medical malpractice against a physician performing a pre-employment examination was cognizable under RCW 7.70. *Eelbode*, 97 Wn.App. at 468 (citing *Daly v. United States*, 946 F.2d 1467, 1469 (1991)).

Ms. Reagan submits the issue of whether a doctor-patient relationship is required under RCW 7.70 involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. Therefore, the Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(4). In addition, to the extent the Court of Appeals decision in *Eelbode* could be in conflict with the Supreme Court, Ms. Reagan asks the Court to accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

V. <u>Dyer v. Trachtman</u> is Not Controlling in Determining If a
 <u>Claim Based on a Forensic Examiner's Negligence is</u>
 <u>Governed by RCW 7.70</u>.

The Court of Appeals relied upon *Dyer v. Trachtman*, 470 Mich. 45, 679 N.W.2d 311 (2004), for the proposition that a "limited" doctor-patient relationship exists in the context of forensic examination such as the one conducted in this case. The opinion is not helpful to an analysis of a forensic examiner's liability under Washington's medical malpractice statute. The court in *Dyer* framed the issue as whether a person injured during a forensic examination has a cause of action in ordinary negligence or medical malpractice. The court held that because the actions of the physician conducting the exam raised issues of medical judgment, the claim was one of medical malpractice.

The holding of *Dyer* that a limited relationship exists between examiner and examinee is of little help in this case. The opinion does not state that Michigan has enacted a statute that pre-empts common law medical malpractice claims. A review of Michigan statutes indicates that no such enactment has occurred. MCL § 600.2912a.- h. Furthermore, since *Dyer*, the Michigan Court of Appeals has rejected the notion that an independent medical examiner provides "care" to an examinee. In *Paul v. Glendale Neurological Associates*, 304 Mich.App. 357, 848 N.W.2d 400

(2014), the plaintiff sued under Michigan's Medical Records Act to obtain records obtained by an examiner in connection with the plaintiff's workers compensation medical examination. The plaintiff argued that because the examiner participated in her "care", she was entitled to the records. The Court disagreed:

[w]e do not find "the process of caring for the the patient's health" to be consistent with the limited nature of a physician's duty in an IME context. . . We decline to adopt plaintiff's proposed definition of "caring for the patient's health" as meaning, essentially, any situation where a patient, for whatever reason, undergoes an examination by a medical professional. Read in context, it is clear that this phrase refers to records maintained in the course of providing some sort of diagnostic or treatment service for the treatment and betterment of the patient.

Paul, 304 Mich.App. at 365-66, 848 N.W.2d at 404-05 (citations omitted).

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