FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/6/2019 3:38 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 97132-3

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DENISE REAGAN,

Petitioner,

٧.

ST. ELMO NEWTON III, M.D.,

Respondent,

# RESPONDENT DR. NEWTON'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Amber L. Pearce, WSBA No. 31626 FLOYD, PFLUEGER & RINGER, P.S. 200 West Thomas Street, Suite 500 Seattle, WA 98119 Telephone: (206) 441-4455

Facsimile: (206) 441-4455

Attorneys for Respondent Dr. Newton

## **

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

## V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

## A. None of the Tests in RAP 13.4(b) Is Satisfied.

Under RAP 13.4(b), a petition for review will be accepted *only*:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Here, Reagan contends that the Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4). Pet. Review at 10. But nothing in her petition suggests that review would be appropriate under any of these four limited grounds.

For example, Reagan states that Division II's interpretation of "health care" is "contrary to the testimony of Dr. Newton." Pet. Review at 9. But doctors are not lawyers and his testimony—unlike appellate decisions—is not binding law. Further, Reagan concludes, without any cogent analysis, that Division II's decision that "conflicts with every Supreme Court and Court of Appeals' decision that has analyzed the issue" of whether an IME constitutes "health care." Pet. Review at 16. And yet, Division II harmoniously relied on virtually every case Reagan inexplicably cites as a "conflict." Id. In sum, Division II rendered a thoughtful, well-reasoned, and sound decision that carefully interpreted Supreme Court and Court of Appeals cases, and advanced the public's interest. Discretionary review should be denied because Reagan's conclusory recitation of RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4) is unsupported by the arguments in her petition.

# B. Division II's Decision Is Harmonious with Supreme Court and Other Court of Appeals Decisions.

To determine "the primary question" of "whether a physical examination during an IME that causes injury to the person being examined constitutes 'health care'" governed by RCW 7.70 et seq.

(*Reagan*, 7 Wn. App. 2d at 786), Division II relied on congruent Supreme Court and Court of Appeals precedent.

In defining "health care" Division II aptly noted that the Supreme Court and several Court of Appeals decisions had already adopted a definition for purposes of medical malpractice: ""[T]he process in which [the physician] was utilizing the skills which he had been taught in examining, diagnosing, treating or caring for the plaintiff as his patient."" Id. at 792 (quoting Beggs v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., 171 Wn.2d 69, 79, 247 P.3d 421 (2011) (second alteration in original) (internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting Estate of Sly v. Linville, 75 Wn. App. 431, 439, 878 P.2d 1241 (1994)); see also Berger v. Sonneland, 144 Wn.2d 91, 109, 26 P.3d 257 (2001) (same definition); *Branom v. State*, 94 Wn. App. 964, 969-70, 974 P.2d 335 (1999), review denied, 138 Wn.2d 1023 (1999) (same definition). Circuitously, Reagan argues that the foregoing cases upon which Division II relied nevertheless conflict with Division II's decision. See Pet. Review at 16.

Likewise, Division II, relying on established precedent, noted that "Courts have interpreted 'injuries arising from health care' under RCW 7.70.010 to encompass scenarios *not involving traditional* 

patient care." Reagan, 7 Wn. App. 2d at 792 (emphasis added), citing examples from *Berger*, 144 Wn.2d at 110 (a physician's unauthorized disclosure of confidential patient information to the patient's ex-husband); *Branom*, 94 Wn. App. at 970-71 (financial and emotional distress injuries to parents arising from a physician's alleged failure to inform them of their infant's medical condition even though the physician did not treat the parents). These cases fall under the umbrella of RCW 7.70 *et seq*. because they are one of three statutorily prescribed causes of action pertaining to health care: negligence, contract or lack of informed consent.

Because Dr. Newton was utilizing the skills which he had been taught in examining and diagnosing Reagan during the IME, his physical exam "falls squarely within the first part of the 'health care' definition." *Reagan*, 7 Wn. App. 2d at 792. Division II's holding is entirely consistent with Supreme Court and Court of Appeals precedent; discretionary review should be denied.

Division II thoughtfully and carefully parsed through the second part of the common law definition of "health care," which "requires that the physician's skillful services be provided to the plaintiff 'as [the physician's] patient." *Id.* at 793 (quoting *Beggs*, 171

Wn.2d at 79). Division II—relying on *Eelbode v. Chec Med. Ctrs., Inc.*, 97 Wn. App. 462, 984 P.2d 436 (1999) and *Daly v. United States*, 946 F.2d 1467 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1991) a Ninth Circuit decision applying Washington law—held that a "full" physician-patient relationship is not necessary to pursue a cause of action under RCW 7.70.030(1). *Reagan*, 7 Wn. App. 2d at 794.

In *Eelbode*, a physical therapist allegedly injured a plaintiff while conducting a pre-employment physical examination. *Eelbode*, 97 Wn. App. at 464-65. The *Eelbode* Court held that a claim of failure to follow the accepted standard of care under RCW 7.70.030(1) does not require a physician-patient relationship. *Id.* at 468. Nevertheless, the physical therapist owed a duty to administer a strength test according to accepted standards and to not harm Eelbode. The *Eelbode* Court stated that "the weight of authority from other jurisdictions supports our conclusion that no physician-patient relationship is needed to create liability for a claimed failure to follow the accepted standard of care." *Id.* at 468-69 & n.4.

In *Daly*, which also involved a pre-employment examination, the Ninth Circuit noted that RCW 7.70.030(2) (informed consent) and RCW 7.70.030(3) (promise that injury would not occur)

expressly require a physician-patient relationship. *Daly*, 946 F.2d at 1469. However, RCW 7.70.030(1), the general negligence provision upon which Reagan relies, contains no such requirement. The Ninth Circuit was also persuaded by the "broad definition of potential defendants" as "further evidence of the legislator's intent to impose liability *beyond the context of a physician-patient relationship*." *Id*. (emphasis added). Like the Ninth Circuit, Reagan also embraces this "broad definition." *See* Pet. Review at 13.

The *Daly* Court reasoned that RCW 7.70.030(1) "specifies that any 'health care provider' may be held liable for failing to follow the accepted standard of care," and 'health care providers' is defined in RCW 7.70.020 to broadly "include, among others, opticians, pharmacists, midwives, paramedics, and osteopathic physician's assistants." *Id.* The Ninth Circuit noted that "[n]one of these providers can form a physician-patient relationship, yet all may be held liable under the statute." *Id.* 

Finally, Division II's analysis of the definition of "health care" in this case is harmonious with *Judy v. Hanford Envtl. Health Found.*, 106 Wn. App. 26, 22 P.3d 810 (2001), *review denied*, 144 Wn.2d 1020 (2001). In *Judy*, Division III agreed with both *Eelbode* and *Daly*,

and stated that RCW 7.70.030 "extends medical malpractice liability beyond the traditional physician-patient relationships." *Id.* at 37. For example, "[a]ny person acting as an agent of a physician (RCW 7.70.020(2)) and any entity employing a physician or physical therapist (RCW 7.70.020(3)) are also subject to the malpractice statute. The duty to follow the accepted standard of care applies with full force to these health care workers." *Id.*, citing RCW 7.70.030(1) and *Eelbode*, 97 Wn. App. at 497.

In the case at bar, Division II stated that "Judy demonstrates that there must be some type of direct connection between a physician and an injured person for RCW 7.70.030(1) liability to attach." Reagan, 7 Wn. App. 2d at 795. In Judy, however, Division III refused to impose medical malpractice liability because "the factual scenario here is two steps removed from both Daly and Eelbode." Judy, 106 Wn. App. at 39. In Judy, the doctor did not conduct an examination or have any contact with the plaintiff. Id. at 37-39.

Here, the *Reagan* Court emphasized the following statement from *Judy*:

There can be no malpractice when there is not only no doctor-patient relationship, but no contact, no intent to

diagnose, treat or otherwise benefit the patient, *no* injury directly caused by the examination, no failure to diagnose or notify the patient of an illness disclosed by the examination, and no dispute as to the accuracy of the reported results.

Reagan, 7 Wn. App. 2d at 795 (quoting *Judy*, 106 Wn. App. at 39). Based on the foregoing, Division II explained that Dr. Newton's IME was similar to the pre-employment examinations in *Eelbode* and *Daly*, thus the absence of a traditional physician-patient relationship between Reagan and Dr. Newton did not preclude the application of RCW 7.70.030(1). *Reagan*, 7 Wn. App. 2d at 795. "And unlike in *Judy*, Dr. Newton did have a connection with Reagan—he allegedly injured her during his examination." *Id*.

Division II not only decided this case harmoniously with the foregoing Supreme Court and Court of Appeals precedent, it also surveyed cases from other jurisdictions that an IME doctor owes a duty not to injure an examinee and is subject to medical malpractice liability for such injury. *Id.* at 795.

In the trial court, Reagan advanced the argument that IME doctors and examinees have a "limited physician-patient relationship." CP at 76-78. She cited, explained and attached the Michigan decision of *Dyer v. Trachtman*, 470 Mich. 45, 679 N.W.2d

311 (Mich. 2004) in support of her position. CP at 77. Division II found *Dyer* persuasive and agreed with the characterization that the relationship between an IME physician and examinee is "not a traditional one," but a "limited one," which acknowledges an IME doctor's duty to perform the examination in a manner not to cause harm to the examinee. *Reagan*, 7 Wn. App. 2d at 796, citing *Dyer*, 679 N.W.2d at 315-16.

Reagan now contradicts herself and takes the contrary position in her petition for review that *Dyer* "is not helpful to an analysis of a forensic examiner's liability under Washington's medical malpractice statute." Pet. Review at 18. Further, she inexplicably contends that the "holding of *Dyer* that a limited relationship exists between examiner and examinee is of little help in this case" (*Id.* at 19) and that the Court of Appeals reliance on it was "erroneous." *Id.* at 20.

But it is well established that "this court will not consider matters not presented to the trial court, nor will this court review a case on a theory different from that in which it was presented at the trial level." *Matthias v. Lehn & Fink Prods. Corp.*, 70 Wn.2d 541, 543, 424 P.2d 284 (1967); *see also Mueller v. Garske*, 1 Wn. App.

406,409, 461 P.2d 886 (1969) ("A party is not permitted to take inconsistent positions in judicial proceedings. It is not as strictly a question of estoppel as it is a rule of procedure based on manifest justice and on a consideration of orderliness, regularity and expedition in litigation.") Accordingly, because Reagan's position in the Supreme Court is inconsistent with her position in the trial court, it is impermissible and unjust. The Court should disregard her arguments that are now contrary to *Dyer v. Trachtman*.

Reagan asserts that there can be no doctor-patient relationship because "the relationship between examiner and examinee is often adversarial." Pet. Review at 11. But she submits no factual or legal authority to support this short-sighted conclusion other than a Michigan case that she now contends does not apply.

Her assertion is belied by the record. "The purpose of an IME is to gather information, not to conduct an adversarial proceeding." CP at 192. "The purpose of the IME is to provide information to assist in the determination of the level of any permanent impairment not to conduct an adversarial procedure." *Id.* Claims managers at L&I rely on IME doctors for their "unbiased, objective examinations and

ratings" to help them administer claims "effectively and fairly." CP at 173.

Notwithstanding L&I's policy of a non-adversarial process and medical examination, Reagan ignores the fact that even "traditional" doctor-patient relationships are subject to adversity under RCW 7.70 *et seq.* when the patient files a lawsuit against the doctor.

Finally, Reagan engages in a lengthy statutory analysis of the definition of "health care" (Pet. Review at 12-13), but as Division II explained "the Supreme Court and several Court of Appeals decisions have adopted the following definition of health care for purposes of the medical malpractice statute[.]" *Reagan*, 7 Wn. App. 2d at 791. Thus, there is no need to engage in a statutory interpretation. Nor does Reagan explain why the long-adopted definition of "health care" is untenable under RAP 13.4(b).

### VI. CONCLUSION

Division II rendered a thoughtful, well-reasoned, and sound decision that carefully interpreted Supreme Court and Court of Appeals cases, and advanced the public's interest. There is no valid basis for the Supreme Court to accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1),

(2), or (4). Accordingly, Reagan's petition for review should be denied.